2018

State of Utah Plaintiff/Appellee v. Jeremiah Ray Hart Defendant/ Appellant : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARD
OF APPELLATE REVIEW, PRESERVATION OF ISSUES
AND GROUNDS FOR APPEAL.**

I. A. Issue: Was defense counsel ineffective in failing to request a mistrial when the State introduced evidence of two firearms, when only one of which was recovered in this case. An unrelated firearm was taken from Defendant during a traffic stop and search weeks after the killing, and the state's forensics expert used it to show the distinctive firing pin mark left by a Glock firearm, which was the same type of firearm suspected in the murder and recovered from Defendant, but it was determined they were not the same firearms. The trial court gave a verbal instruction that the firearm was used solely for comparison, and was not involved in the case. However, it took a conspicuous

sidebar to achieve this.

B. Standard of Review: An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a Defendant must demonstrate: (1) that counsel's performance was objectively deficient; and (2) a reasonable probability exists that but for the deficient performance, the Defendant would have obtained a more favorable outcome at trial. *State v. Kurr*, 2012 UT App 194, ¶ 2, 283 P.3d 995, 997

C. Preservation: The issue respecting the gun, to which counsel objected, occurred during the testimony of SL Police Crime Lab Firearms Expert, Derek Mears. R.3888-3904. The issue of ineffective assistance of counsel was not raised in the trial court, but may be raised for the first time on appeal as an exception to the preservation rule. *State v. Johnson*, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 23.

II. A. Issue: Was it ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to object and ask for a mistrial when key witness, Kary Carter, disclosed that he and Defendant were incarcerated together before and during the trial? Was it ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to object and request a mistrial when a critical witness testified that the Defendant was previously in prison for prior offenses? Was counsel further ineffective by engaging in an unreasonable strategy of emphasizing that the Defendant had been previously convicted of an offense which was punishable by incarceration in the Utah State Prison?

B. Standard of Review: An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the

first time on appeal presents a question of law. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a Defendant must demonstrate: (1) that counsel's performance was objectively deficient; and (2) a reasonable probability exists that but for the deficient performance, the Defendant would have obtained a more favorable outcome at trial. *State v. Kurr*, 2012 UT App 194, ¶ 2, 283 P.3d 995, 997.

C. Preservation: The issue of ineffective assistance of counsel was not raised in the trial court, but may be raised for the first time on appeal as an exception to the preservation rule. *State v. Johnson*, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 23.

III. A. Issue: Was defense counsel ineffective in failing to request a mistrial when the jury came back and asked for clarification as to whose DNA was found on whose jacket?

B. Standard of Review: An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a Defendant must demonstrate: (1) that counsel's performance was objectively deficient; and (2) a reasonable probability exists that but for the deficient performance, the Defendant would have obtained a more favorable outcome at trial. *State v. Kurr*, 2012 UT App 194, ¶ 2, 283 P.3d 995, 997.

C. Preservation: The issue of ineffective assistance of counsel was not raised in the trial court, but may be raised for the first time on appeal as an exception to the preservation rule. *State v. Johnson*, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 23. The DNA expert testified only

that Hart's DNA was found on a jacket that was tested without stating that it was Hart's jacket. R.3861. The parties stipulated to an instruction which was read to the jury stating the jacket was Hart's after the evidence was admitted. R.3921. The jury had a question about it during deliberations but the court would not permit clarification. The instruction apparently was insufficient for the jury and counsel failed to move for a mistrial.

IV. A. Issue: Was defense counsel ineffective in failing to object when lead detective testified that he believed a key blood drop (found under the victim's body) was likely Hart's, when the sample was not tested for DNA, and the detective was not noticed or qualified as a blood pattern expert?

B. Standard of Review: An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a Defendant must demonstrate: (1) that counsel's performance was objectively deficient; and (2) a reasonable probability exists that but for the deficient performance, the Defendant would have obtained a more favorable outcome at trial. *State v. Kurr*, 2012 UT App 194, ¶ 2, 283 P.3d 995, 997.

C. Preservation: Detective Spangenburg testified to his conclusion regarding blood spatters in and about the body of the deceased without objection from defense counsel. R.4166-4173, Addendum B. Detective Spangenburg testified as an expert regarding blood spatter evidence, without being qualified as such. A notice of expert provided regarding his proposed testimony related solely to his proposed testimony as "to

his knowledge and experience regarding drug distribution practices and methodology.”
R.735-736.

V. A. Issue: Did the cumulative effect of all the errors require reversal?

B. Standard of Review: Reversal is required if the cumulative effect of all identified and assumed errors undermines confidence in the verdict. *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1229 (Utah 1993).

C. Grounds and Preservation: See Issues I through IV, *supra*.

CONTROLLING CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES.

The controlling constitutional provisions, statutes and rules are included in Addendum C.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY NECESSARY TO UNDERSTAND ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

An Information, filed May 4, 2015, charged Defendant with Aggravated Murder, a First Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code § 76-5-202; Obstructing Justice, a First Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code § 76-8-306-1; and Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by Restricted Person, a Second Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code § 76-10-503(2)(a). R. 1-4. Notice of Intent to seek the death penalty was not filed. See R.2484.

Use Immunity was granted for several witnesses who later appeared at preliminary

hearing and trial, Richard McDonald, Alyssa Henrie, Kandise Newby, and Kimberly Martinez. R.78-79. Preliminary hearing was held November 4, 2015. R.94-97;R.2118-2480. Defendant was bound over for trial on the Information as charged. R.96;R.2452.

Mr. Hart moved the trial court to hold Utah's aggravated murder statute facially unconstitutional under article I, section 24, and article V, section 1 of the Utah Constitution. R.165-192. The State responded. R.203-210. Argument was heard July 11, 2016. R.2481-1552. On July 27, 2016, the trial court issued its Memorandum Decision and Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Declare Utah's Aggravated Murder Statute Unconstitutional. R.235-248. This issue was considered in considerable depth by the Utah Supreme Court which issued its decision on November 21, 2016, the gravamen of which effectively renders moot and extinguishes the Defendant's argument. *Met v. State*, 2016 UT 51, ¶ 52, 388 P.3d 447, 461 (Utah's dual-track sentencing structure for those convicted of aggravated murder does not violate the federal and state constitution).

The defense moved to strike the panel on the basis that the jury venire did not represent a fair cross-section of the community as required by the constitution and state law. R.3211. The basic argument was the age of the venire was heavily skewed in favor of 45 up to 65 years old and therefore a jury which would be far more conservative, set in its ways, and less likely to acquit, i.e., the panel's socio-economic status was unfavorably weighted against younger people. *Id.* Defendant correctly asserted that he had the right to an impartial jury drawn from a fair cross-section of the community. *State v. Young*,

853 P.2d 327, 338 (Utah 1993). On its face, the Defendant's criticism was well taken. Two problems prevent effectively raising this claim on appeal. First, "courts do not recognize geographical distribution or socio-economic status as a distinctive classification or group for Sixth Amendment purposes." *State v. Young*, 853 P.2d at 339. Secondly, the raw data was so unreliable and unpreserved that it is not possible to demonstrate that the defense demonstrated a *prima facie* violation that a particular group was insufficiently numerous and distinctive to be cognizable for fair cross-section purposes. *State v. Tillman*, 750 P.2d 546, 575–76 (Utah 1987). Indeed, the trial court specifically stated,

At the end of the day, I do not find that any group has been excluded in the selection process. I do not have enough evidence to show that there is. And my general experience as a judge doing a lot of juries, again, I – I think I've done about 15 this year, and that -- that's just this year, I -- I perceive that we get a good cross-section of our community. In terms of the representation in relation to the number of persons in the community, this particular panel may be less representative than others that I've seen, but I think that's a -- that's just a random -- the result of a random process. I've tried to observe how the process has worked.

R.3261. It does not appear from the record that defense counsel demonstrated to the contrary of the court's finding in this regard. Ultimately, the court determined that defense counsel had failed to establish a *prima facie* case of a violation of the Sixth Amendment. R.3262-3263. In counsel's judgment, trial court error cannot be shown.

Mr. Hart moved the trial court pursuant to Utah R. Crim. P. 16, Utah R. Civ. P. 37, and the due process clause of the Utah Constitution, to compel production of all non-

privileged officer notes and all records of contacts between State agents and witness Richard McDonald, and to impose sanctions up to and including dismissal for destruction of evidence by members of the prosecution team. R.280-307. Hearing, including taking testimony, took place on November 28, 2016. R.2553-2662. The issue before the court was whether there were notes taken by officers during the investigation that may not have been preserved and if there were notes that were preserved, the court's order was that "within seven days you're to provide either electronic or paper response describing what, if any, notes are there." If there are handwritten notes, it may take slightly longer to get them to counsel, but the State will at least provide the information. R.2639. Defense counsel is directed to file an amended motion to narrow and focus the issues based upon the evidence that's come in and proffers made. R.2640-41. A further evidentiary hearing was held March 21, 2017 wherein the defense called several witnesses. R.388-390;R.2663-2774. Defendant defines the issue: "The bigger issue is that there's notes -- an unwritten policy at Salt Lake City to destroy all notes. And that's -- the claims that I'm making are a *Tiedemann* motion, Rule 37 spoliation motion, for us to have a proper record here." R.2670. The State noted that no amended motion had been filed as the court previously directed and requests defense be ordered to specifically address issues with the evidence. R.2726. The court orders supplemental briefing. R.2728. Defendant agrees that the State will submit a new order regarding discovery from the defense. R.2734-2735. Ultimately the Defendant withdrew, in writing, the motion to compel

discovery and sanctions for destruction of evidence. R.518-519.

The court held a hearing on several motions *in limine* on May 8, 2017. R.554-555;R.2745-2778. The court's order is set forth R.567-569; See R.2478. The Defendant stipulated to the State's motion allowing Utah R. Evid. 404(b) evidence that the Defendant had sold, provided, purchased, and used illegal drugs. R.2745-2778, 2748; R.567-569. As to the use State's motion to allow reference to the Defendant's nickname, "bullet," the State withdrew its motion. R.2745-2778, 2748-2750; R.567-569. Further hearing on the 404(b) issue regarding Kary Carter's testimony of the Defendant's participation in a prior robbery was heard June 27, 2017. R.752-755;R.2793-2887. The trial court subsequently determined that the evidence regarding the Defendant's participation in a prior robbery was admissible. Findings, Conclusion, and Order, R.848-856. The Defendant petitioned for an interlocutory appeal from this Order. R.887-888. The Court of Appeals granted the Petition. R.1739. The appeal became moot upon the parties entering in to a stipulation to exclude the 404(b) robbery evidence. R.3022-3040, 3025;R.1790-1793, 1789. The State filed a notice of intent not to introduce the disputed 404(b) evidence in its case in chief. R.1760-1761.

The court heard Defendant's other Motions *in Limine*, a motion to exclude witness tampering evidence, R.1613-16115, a motion to exclude inconclusive DNA test results, R.1618-1621, and a motion to bifurcate the aggravating factors in the murder, R.1607-1610. R.2983-3021. The parties stipulated to exclude witness tampering evidence,

R.2985, the court granted the motion, R.2995, and to bifurcate the aggravating factors in the murder. R.2985, 2991;R.1869-1870. Based upon stipulation of the parties regarding the DNA evidence, the court determined that reference can be made to the test and inconclusive results, “but there can be no inference drawn beyond what the expert has stated in her report.” R.2997;R1867-1868. Defense counsel withdrew the motion to bifurcate the aggravating factor in the murder. R.2997. The aggravating factor was that the homicide was “committed incident to an act, scheme, course of conduct, or criminal episode during which the actor committed or attempted to commit a robbery or aggravated robbery.” R.1.

Jury trial commenced September 25, 2017 and concluded October 3, 2017. R.1885-1996;R.3041-4524. The jury found the Defendant guilty of Aggravated Murder, a First Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code § 76-5-202; Obstructing Justice, a First Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code § 76-8-306-1; and Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by Restricted Person, a Second Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code § 76-10-503(2)(a), as charged in the Information. R.1987-1988;R.4510-4583(4513-4516).

The trial court sentenced Mr. Hart as follows: for Aggravated Murder, an indeterminate term of twenty-five years to life in the Utah State Prison; for Obstruction of Justice, an indeterminate term of not less than one year nor more than fifteen years in the Utah State Prison; and for Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by Restricted Person, an indeterminate term of not less than one year nor more than fifteen years in the Utah State

Prison. R.2051-2054;R.4585-4583(4572-73). The court ordered that all sentences run consecutive to prior commitments pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(3) and consecutive to each other. Id.

Defendant timely appealed. R.2055-2056. The Utah Supreme Court transferred the case to this Court. R.2086-2087. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) (2008).

STATEMENT OF FACTS NECESSARY TO UNDERSTAND ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

OVERVIEW

Christian McDonald was killed on January 24, 2015 in relation to his involvement in a drug deal wherein he and his brother, Richard McDonald, arranged to sell five pounds of marijuana to Erick Burwell and his associate. The other person, as alleged by the State, was the Defendant, Jeremiah Ray Hart. Mr. Hart did not testify and at all times maintained through his counsel that, although he was present,¹ he was not involved in the circumstances which resulted in the shooting death of Christian McDonald. There were only two actual witnesses to the shooting incident, Richard McDonald and Erick Burwell.

THE TRIAL

¹ “We’re going to talk about a slug, a slug that was fired and -- and actually went through Mr. Hart’s face. They (the State) are going to link that to him. He had a -- he had a bullet go through his face. So there is DNA out there that actually links him to this scene. He admits he was there. . . .” Defense Counsel’s Opening Statement, R.3314.

Erick Burwell testified that he had an extensive criminal history. R. 3319. He agreed to testify to his roll in the homicide in exchange for pleading guilty to manslaughter and a robbery, both second degree felonies. R.3421-3422. A couple of months prior to January 24, 2015, Erick, introducing himself as Michael, made the acquaintance of Kandice Newby, a probationer, with whom he exchanged drugs three or four times and gave her rides. R.3322-3324;R.2531-33. Erick asked Kandice if she could come up with five pounds of marijuana, that he had a buyer and both could profit. R.3532-2534;R3324-25. Kandice texted Alyssa Henrie who was also on ankle monitor with her and gave her Erick's number so Alyssa could give it to her contact. R.3537-3538. Kandice asked Alyssa if she knew anyone who could get 5lbs of marijuana. R.3538. Kandice's friend, Garrett Pitkin, was at her house and overheard them talking about the deal and wanted to get involved. R.3339. He was willing to pick up her share since she couldn't leave with the ankle monitor. Id. They made a deal if he went and picked up her share of the money, she would give him part of it. R.3540. She put Garret Pitkin and Erick Burwell in contact. Id.

After he was released from prison in 2014, Erick ran into the Defendant in West Valley. R.3320. They had been associates for years. R.3321. Erick testified that he arranged the robbery on January 24, 2015. R.3321. He maintained he talked to Mr. Hart on the phone about setting up a deal for 5 pounds of marijuana, that he had a person for the robbery. R.3328. According to Erick, the Defendant was to bring a gun; Erick

claimed he was not to bring one. R.3329. Eventually, through various intermediaries, Erick was able to set up the deal through Shawn Runyan, who located the McDonald brothers as potential sellers of the drug. R.3601-3604.

After he was released from prison in 2014, Erick Burwell ran into Mr. Hart with whom he was a long time acquaintance. R.3320. Burwell testified that he arranged the robbery the day of January 24, 2015. R.3321. Kandise Newby and others were involved, but did not know the Erick Burwell intended a robbery. Id.

Burwell set the robbery up in a phone call to Jeremiah Hart. R.3328. He told Mr. Hart it was for five pounds of weed and that he was to bring a gun. R.3328-3329. Burwell spoke to a friend of Kandise Newby on January 24, 2015. R.3330. He could not recall his name. Id. The friend called later that day and indicated he had a potential seller with five pounds. R.3332. According to his testimony, Erick and the Defendant intended to rob these sellers of the marijuana and cut everyone else out of the deal. R.3325, 3327. They picked a location in Sugar House to meet, in the parking lot near several businesses. R.3332-3333. Erick said to meet him by the Red Lobster. R.3333. Jeremiah Hart was there when he arrived. Id.

Adam Sandoval, who assisted in setting up the sale, arranged through Kandise Newby that the sellers would show up in Sugarhouse by the Red Lobster. R.3581-3582. Shawn Runyan picked up Adam Sandoval and went to Shawn's friends' house. R.3583. They then got in the friends' car. Id. There were two of them, brothers (the McDonald

Brothers), whose names Adam could not recall. R.3584. Adam noticed a backpack was by the feet of the passenger. Id. They drove up to the parking lot in Sugarhouse by the Red Lobster. R.3585. Adam texted Kandise Newby to let her know they were there. Id. A friend of Kandise Newby, Garret Pitkin, also one of the many intermediaries who expected to make some money, drove to the Sugarhouse Parking lot at about the same time as the others. R.3638, 3646. He met Erick Burwell, whom he knew as Michael, there. R.3646. The others, Adam, Shawn and the brothers showed up and he met them for the first time. R.3649.

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