Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2019

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Jeremiah Ray Hart, Defendant/ Appellant : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Hart argues that counsel could have taken "precautionary measures" to ensure that the information did not come out, such as having the court instruct Carter not to refer to Hart's incarceration. Br.Aplt. 41–42. But counsel took precautionary measures. He crafted his questions in a way that should have avoided any reference to Hart's incarceration. Carter was bent on talking about it and offered the testimony despite—not as a result of— counsel's best efforts to steer Carter away. Counsel cannot be deficient for not being able to control an opposing party's witness.

Once the information was out, counsel acted reasonably in choosing to use it to Hart's advantage rather than seeking a curative instruction or moving for a mistrial. Carter was a key prosecution witness. Both Burwell and Malcom testified that they saw Hart shoot Christian with a gun that had an extended magazine. R3353, 3358–62, 4086–88. An extended magazine from a 9 mm Glock was left behind at the scene. R3685–86; SE10–11. And a spent 9 mm casing with markings consistent with those made by a Glock was found at the scene. R3691, 3922–23; SE24–25, 122. Hart's theory was that Burwell and Malcom were in cahoots, that the gun with the extended magazine was Malcom's, and that Malcom had shot his brother when Hart and Malcom were fighting over the gun. R4456–59, 4463–65.

But Hart's theory was significantly undermined by Carter's testimony – a witness with no connection to either Burwell or Malcom. Carter testified that he gave Hart the gun with the extended magazine. R3934. Carter even identified the types of bullets he had loaded in the magazine, which was consistent with the types of bullets officers found in the magazine left at the scene. *See* R3685–87, 3935; SE10–12. Carter also testified that Hart returned the gun without the magazine. R3939. None of counsel's efforts to undermine Carter's credibility could explain Carter's knowledge about the details of the murder weapon. The best counsel could do was to point out one discrepancy in the details – Carter called the gun a .40 caliber when the extended magazine actually came from a 9 mm. R3689, 3934, 4458–59.

Counsel reasonably concluded that Carter's hinting at his incarceration with Hart gave counsel the opening he needed to more effectively challenge Carter's testimony. Although Carter denied talking about the case with Hart or looking through his legal papers, counsel effectively emphasized the many opportunities Carter would have to familiarize himself with the details of Hart's case over the year that the two were cellmates in prison. R3971-74. Earlier in cross-examination, counsel elicited that the prosecutor had agreed to send a "pretty glowing letter" to the Board of Pardons and Parole after Carter testified; Carter had a parole review date the next year and the prosecutor's draft letter urged the Board to consider Carter's cooperation, "grit and true character." R3949–51; DE3. In closing argument counsel emphasized the opportunity Carter had to look through Hart's legal papers, and he suggested that that kind of information would be "valuable" to someone in prison. R4461.

Counsel also could have concluded that under the facts of this case, there was little risk that the jury would assume Hart's guilt just because he had a criminal history. Every player in this drama was involved in a crime; several had criminal histories. R3317–19, 3524–29, 3552–53, 3575–76, 3600, 3655, 3927–29, 3985, 4070–71. Everyone but Burwell received use immunity for their testimonies in this case. SE132–39. Again, Hart's theory was that

-37-

Burwell was working with the McDonald brothers, not Hart. R4456–59, 4463– 65. Hart emphasized that Malcom was dealing drugs, that he lied to police regarding their investigation of his brother's death, and that he got rid of his gun. R4444–46, 4448, 4450. Burwell had just gotten out of prison, and he pleaded guilty to manslaughter and robbery for his role in Christian's murder. R3317–19, 4447–48. Knowing that Hart had some unspecified criminal history that resulted in a prison sentence and that he had violated parole was not likely to have swayed the jury as it decided whom to believe.

Along with the potential benefit counsel could see in developing Carter's testimony and the minimal risk, counsel had to weigh the costs and benefits of asking for a curative instruction or moving for a mistrial.

Competent counsel could have seen real risk in asking for a curative instruction. Carter's volunteered references were not explicit. R3960, 3964. A curative instruction would draw more attention to the issue, without adding the kind of benefit that counsel could create through further questioning and argument on the point. Certainly, the route counsel chose carried some risk. But as argued above, that risk was minimal in a case where criminal activity was the norm among the fact witnesses. And counsel's strategy carried the benefit of using Hart's incarceration to his advantage rather than drawing attention to it through a curative instruction that lacked that advantage. A competent attorney could choose the course Hart's counsel chose. In fact, counsel presented this option to Hart, and Hart agreed to the strategy. R3976–77.

And as argued above, counsel had to weigh the damage to Hart's case, if any, against the costs of succeeding on a mistrial motion. Competent counsel could conclude that, on balance, spinning the testimony to support the defense was a better option than a new trial with potential 404(b) evidence that was even more damaging than the vague reference to Hart's incarceration and parole violation.

Taking all of these factors into account, counsel reasonably decided not to move for a mistrial or request a curative instruction. Counsel's decision – made with Hart's approval – was reasonable. "[A]n attorney must play the hand he or she is dealt, and an attorney's decision about how to deal with adverse facts is the sort of thing that courts should not second-guess in the context of ineffective assistance claims." *State v. Garcia*, 2017 UT App 200, ¶23, 407 P.3d 1061. Furthermore, "strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. Among all the options counsel faced, it was reasonable for counsel to decide to use Hart's prior incarceration to explain how Carter could know about the extended magazine without having given it to Hart. And that strategy became even more reasonable once Carter "blurted out" the evidence of Hart's prior incarceration. Br.Aplt. 40. That counsel was ultimately unable to persuade the jury does not make counsel's actions unreasonable. *Parsons v. Barnes*, 871 P.2d 516, 524 (Utah 1994).

3. Hart has not proven a reasonable likelihood that a mistrial would have been granted.

Finally, Hart has not shown prejudice. He has not shown a reasonable likelihood that a mistrial motion would have been granted had he asked for one instead of using Carter's testimony about incarceration. As discussed above, the references to Hart's incarceration and parole violation were veiled, referring only obliquely to Hart. They were volunteered by Carter, not elicited by counsel. And they were unlikely to sway the jury in a case where almost all the fact witnesses were involved in criminal activity. See State v. Allen, 2005 UT 11, ¶40, 108 P.3d 730 ("A review of our case law amply reveals that a mistrial is not required where an improper statement is not intentionally elicited, is made in passing, and is relatively innocuous in light of all the testimony presented."); *State v. Butterfield*, 2001 UT 59, ¶47, 27 P.3d 1133 (concluding that trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying mistrial when witness made "a 'vague,' 'fleeting' remark" indicating that defendant may have had criminal history); State v. Velarde, 734 P.2d 440, 448 (Utah 1986) (acknowledging that "some prejudice might result" from "a single phrase, clearly elicited inadvertently, made during a three-day trial," but mistrial requires "some showing that the verdict was substantially influenced by the challenged testimony"). Hart therefore has not proven that there was a reasonable likelihood of the court granting a mistrial had he asked for one rather than choosing to use the testimony.

And he suffered no prejudice when counsel used the incarceration references to Hart's advantage rather than asking for a curative instruction. Again, knowing that Hart had some unspecified criminal history that resulted in a prison sentence and that he had violated parole was not likely to have swayed the jury as it decided whom to believe. Counsel was able to challenge Carter's testimony by emphasizing that Carter had the opportunity to view Hart's legal papers in this case while the two were cellmates, and suggesting that Carter had crafted his testimony to coincide with the State's case so he could get favorable treatment from the State. Had counsel not used Hart's incarceration to try to undermine Carter's testimony, the State's case would have been even stronger.

C. Hart has inadequately briefed his claim that counsel was ineffective for not moving for a mistrial when the jury asked a question during deliberations.

Hart argues that counsel was ineffective for not requesting a mistrial when the jury submitted a question during deliberations asking whose jacket sleeve was tested and whose DNA match was found on the left sleeve. Br.Aplt. 45.

This Court should decline to reach this issue because it is inadequately briefed. In any event, Hart has not shown that counsel was ineffective because counsel could reasonably choose not to move for a mistrial based on the commonplace occurrence of a jury asking for clarification—particularly when a mistrial carried such heavy costs in this case.

During trial, a forensic DNA analyst testified about the results of DNA tests she ran on the jacket that Hart was wearing the night of the murder, but she did not identify the jacket as Hart's. R3859–61. The jacket was tested against a DNA sample known to belong to Christian and a sample known to belong to Hart. *See* R3859–61. The test of the right sleeve was inconclusive. R3860–61. The left sleeve resulted in a match for Hart but not Christian. R3861.

Because the analyst could not lay foundation for whose clothing she tested, the parties agreed to have a stipulation read into the record. R3867–

-42-

69. The stipulation stated, "The sleeve tested which contained Jeremiah Hart's DNA was from Jeremiah Hart's jacket." R3921.

The case manager later testified about the jacket. He identified the jacket Hart was wearing the night of the murder, and pictures of the jacket were shown to the jury. R4170–72; SE159–60. He confirmed that both sleeves on this jacket were tested and that Hart's DNA was found on one sleeve but not the other. R4173.

Neither party referred to this evidence in closing argument.

During deliberations, the jury asked the court, "According to [the forensic DNA analyst's report for the left sleeve of the jacket,] whose jacket sleeve was tested? Whose DNA was a match for left sleeve?" R1981. When the court proposed simply referring the jury to their memories of the stipulation, counsel urged the court to answer the question more directly. R4482–83. But after further discussion, counsel agreed with the court's approach. R4483–84. The court responded to the jury by stating, "This issue was the subject of a stipulation read into the record by counsel. Please rely on your collective memory of the evidence presented." R1981.

This Court should not address Hart's appellate challenge because he has not adequately briefed it. Rule 24, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, requires parties to "explain, with reasoned analysis ..., why the party should

prevail on appeal." Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(8). A claim is inadequately briefed when "the overall analysis is so lacking as to shift the burden of research and argument to the reviewing court." *State v. Nelson*, 2015 UT 62, ¶39, 355 P.3d 1031 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Hart's claim is inadequately briefed because he has done nothing more than "baldly averred" that a mistrial would be appropriate and that counsel was ineffective for not requesting one. *See Living Rivers v. Exec. Dir. of the Utah Dep't of Envt'l Quality,* 2017 UT 64, ¶43, 417 P.3d 57. But Hart has not attempted to meet his burden to prove that all competent counsel would have moved for a mistrial. In fact, he has not even looked to the standard for a mistrial that trial counsel would have had to meet to get one. Instead, he quotes the standard of review for the denial of a mistrial motion and the standard for determining whether a defendant may be retried after a mistrial is granted. Br.Aplt. 45. Nor has Hart shown prejudice by explaining why a mistrial motion was reasonably likely to have succeeded. This Court should therefore not consider this claim.

Hart's ineffective assistance claim would fail on its merits in any event. Competent counsel could conclude that he had no valid basis to move for a mistrial. "[T]he trial court should not grant a mistrial except where the circumstances are such as to reasonably indicate that a fair trial cannot be had and that a mistrial is necessary in order to avoid injustice." *Maestas*, 2012 UT 46, ¶325. Jury questions during deliberations are commonplace. In fact, the trial court made the offhand remark in this case that "the vast majority of my juries this past year have had questions." R4485. The mere fact that a jury asks for clarification does not demonstrate that a fair trial cannot be had—particularly in a six-day trial with 21 witnesses and 162 exhibits. Counsel could have concluded that any motion for a mistrial based on the jury asking for clarification would have been futile.

Competent counsel could have also decided that any confusion the jury faced related to a relatively unimportant piece of evidence. Unremarkably, Hart's jacket had Hart's DNA on it. Even if counsel could have used the absence of Christian's DNA on Hart's left sleeve to call into question Malcom's and Burwell's testimony that Hart put his left arm around Christian and held him to the seat, that fact was of little importance to the question of whether Hart shot Christian.

And again, along with counsel's assessment of the weakness of a mistrial motion and the relative unimportance of the evidence, competent counsel would have weighed the costs of a mistrial in this case. Counsel could have reasonably concluded that the risk of facing the 404(b) evidence in a new trial was not justified by the jury's apparent confusion about the DNA

-45-

evidence. Furthermore, counsel recognized that he had other reasonable alternatives to a mistrial. Counsel agreed to an instruction from the court that the jurors should refer to their collective memory of the evidence – a type of instruction that is commonplace in these situations.⁷

Finally, Hart would not be prejudiced by counsel forgoing a mistrial motion because the motion was not reasonably likely to have succeeded. As explained above, the jury question was commonplace and did not indicate that a fair trial could not be had.

II.

Counsel could reasonably conclude that he could use the case manager's opinion testimony to undermine the State's investigation, and that any objection to notice or admissibility would likely be futile.

Hart argues that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the case manager's opinion testimony about the blood found at the scene. Br.Aplt. 46– 48. He argues that the case manager's testimony amounted to expert testimony, and that counsel could have objected for lack of notice that the

⁷ Hart seems to suggest that a mistrial was appropriate because the parties' initial stipulation about whose jacket was tested for DNA was "insufficient for the jury." Br.Aplt. 45. Again, counsel does not explain how this required a mistrial to avoid injustice. Even if the stipulation was insufficient, the case manager later testified that the jacket that was tested for DNA was Hart's jacket and that Hart's DNA was found on one of the sleeves. R4170–73.

case manager would give expert testimony and because the State had not satisfied rule 702, Utah Rules of Evidence. Br.Aplt. 46–47. He argues that the testimony was prejudicial because it had the "tendency to show that [Hart] lingered momentarily over the body of Christian McDonald and thus tie[d] him to the shooting death." Br.Aplt. 47.

Hart has not shown deficient performance or prejudice. Regardless of whether counsel could have excluded the testimony through an objection, counsel reasonably chose to use the testimony to challenge the adequacy of the State's investigation. Further, counsel could have reasonably decided that both a rule 702 objection and a notice objection were unlikely to keep out the case manager's testimony. But in any event, the testimony was harmless.

A. Background

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